


Introduction

No.4 Wood Street, now named Tylney House after its first occupant in 1734 is almost 300 years old. The street was to be 

the first that the famous Bath architect, John Wood was to build as part of his larger Queen Square development. The first 

stone was laid at its corner in January 1729 and was to be named after him. John had the previous year agreed with the 

land owner, Robert Gay to a 99 year lease on the fields on which it was to be built. He then divided it into smaller plots 

which he leased out to a number of builders. Robert had inherited the fields that constituted Barton Farm from his wife and 

on his death in 1738 was to pass it to the Rivers family. They were to own the ground rents through succeeding 

generations until they were sold in 1919. 

John Wood after completing Wood Street created Queens Square and the streets around it. He went on to design The 

Circus which was linked by Gay Street, named after its Land owner. Unfortunately, he never saw it finished and it was his 

son of the same name who was to continue his work which culminated in the magnificent Royal Crescent which was 

completed in 1775.

Bath is fortunate in that their Record Office in the basement of the Guildhall has an almost complete run of rate books from 

when Wood Street was first let to date. Usually, it is difficult to establish ownership of a property as it can be different to 

the occupier. In the case of Wood Street, the Rivers family were never to occupy any of their houses. There are a few rate 

books missing and I have found censuses, newspapers and directories helpful to fill the gaps. I was amazed at how often 

the tenants would advertise in the Bath Chronicle and thanks to the Newspaper Archives website was able to add them to 

this history. The pile of deeds I was given when I bought the property were useful even though they only went back to 1922 

when the freehold was sold by a descendant of the Rivers Family.

It is Earl Tylney who appears in the City Rates Book as the first occupant in 1734, almost 4 years after it was started. He 

was extremely wealthy with an income of £10,000 a year and owner of the magnificent Palladian mansion at Wanstead. 

He was a friend of John Wood and helped finance the development with him. He was born Sir Richard Child and was a 

member of a famous Banking dynasty. It was in 1731 that he was created Earl Tylney. 

The City Rate books reveal that it was in 1749 that John Knightley-Whitwick took over the lease at no.4 Wood Street. His 

family were for centuries lords of the Manor of Berkswell, near Solihull. He was born in 1712 and went up to Oxford in 

1729. He arrived in Bath in 1744 where he married Catherine Musgrave and five years later they were living at 4 Wood 

Street where they remained until his death in 1764.

The next tenant was Francis Chalie, a French Huguenot, who was a Wine Merchant whose family were established in 

Pudding Lane in London in that trade. He advertised in the Bath Chronicle and later moved his business to Chandos 

Buildings in Bath. He eventually ended up back in London where he was to die in 1811. He was famous in his day and a 

painting of him by James Drummond later was engraved and appeared in the European Magazine. 

The Rates Books reveal a number of wealthy tenants including Lady Anne Shuckburgh, who moved to Bath on the death 

of her husband in 1773. Sadly, she was to pass away herself just 3 years later and was buried in the family vault at 

Shuckburgh, near Stratford upon Avon.
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It is Georgina Brocas who next appears as a tenant in 1776. She was the widow of the Rev. Theophilus Brocas. She had 

previously lived in Dublin, where her husband had been made a Freeman as a result of his promotion of the Arts in the 

city. Georgina had three children and her eldest John went on to be a Dean in Ireland as his father had before. Georgina 

was to Iive at no. 4 until 1783 when she moved to Batheaston and it was here she was to die in 1789.

After so many wealthy tenants it came as a surprise to see that the next occupier was a dentist. Nathaniel Foy was to run 

his practice there for six years until his death in 1789.

It was very exciting to find that the nest gentleman to live at no.4 Wood Street was to be a national figure. For in 1790 

James King moved into the property. It was to be Jane Austen who was to make him famous as one of the only true life

characters that she used in her novels. He appears in Northanger Abbey as Master of Ceremonies at the Lower Assembly 

Rooms. It is he who introduced Henry Tilney to Catherine Moreland. It may be just coincidental that she chose a similar 

name to that of Earl Tylney, the first occupant of no. 4 Wood Street  James King not only appears in the Rate Books for 

three years, but also in advertisements in the Bath Chronicle at 4 Wood Street. In 1792 he was promoting his Spring Ball 

for which he was selling tickets at his home address.

At the end of this chapter of the history of the building there is a change in the style of occupancy. It would seem that for

the next 200 years with some exceptions that it would become a center for art. Initially for framing and gilding and later as 

an art gallery where many famous paintings were displayed and sold.

The first record of the change in tenants was in 1797 with John Self, who was a carver and Gilder. He would have had 

workshops and traded from the address. He had formerly been at the Golden Head at no. 6 Queen Street from 1787 

where his adverts show him welcoming “Nobility and Gentry” to his establishment. He appears in the rate books until 1802 

when he sells his business to William Smith. John was to continue to live in Bath until his death in 1811 and is shown to 

have been buried in the Abbey.

William Smith first advertised in the Bath Chronicle in 1802 when he took over the business of John Self in June of that 

year. He carried on as a gilder and frame maker until 1822 when he moved to larger premises at 42 Milsom Street. 

Unfortunately, he overstretched himself and was declared a bankrupt four years later and an advert describes his stock 

and property which was sold to pay his debts.

There is a change in the fortunes of 4 Wood Street when the property is taken over by Hugh Barker after its sale by 

William Smith. Hugh opens a  Woollen drapery business there in 1822. He originates from Clifton in Bristol where he had 

married Mary Gregory in 1798. There is an entry in Pigots 1830 directory for him at 4 Wood Street as a Draper. Sadly, this 

was to be his last year as there is a record of his burial on July 27 in Walcot churchyard aged 72.   the following year there 

was an advert for the sale of his stock of cloth, clothes and furniture at 4 Wood Street. There is a note at the bottom that 

“his house in Wood Street was now to be let”.

Although John Harrison rents 4 Wood Street for just two years, there is a tremendous amount known about him as he 

regularly advertised his business in the Bath Chronicle. He appeared to have run a very comprehensive business covering 

picture framing, mirrors and plate glass on the premises. 
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He also offered a collection of paintings and prints for sale. Amongst the paintings was “the Opening of the Sixth Seal” by 

Francis Danby, which now hangs in the Victoria Gallery in Bath. In July 1836 there was a wonderful insight into both his 

business and his house in an advert relating to his move from Bath to London. It is very detailed and shows his stock of 

paintings included many famous artists including Brueghel and Teniers. It also showed that he had a “delightful Flower and 

Fruit Garden with a Fountain, Fishpond and Summer House” at the rear of no. 4 Wood Street.

It would seem that after no. 4 Wood Street was vacated by John Harrison it was advertised in July 1836 and as a result the 

lease was taken on by William Lewis who opened a Furniture business in the building. This only lasted a year and there is a 

descriptive advert of his stock and premises soon after he vacated the premises the following year. 

No. 4 Wood Street was now to enter its longest continuous occupation with the purchase of the lease by John Marshman Hill 

and his son, who for nearly 70 years were Carvers and Gilders there.  John had earlier been in partnership with the son of 

John  Deare whose business can be traced back at 9 Kingsmead Street in Bath to 1766. It was at this address that John 

Marshman Hill advertised from his looking-glass warehouse as J.M. Hill, late Deare & Hill, carver, gilder, glass and picture 

frame manufacturer in 1833. By 1841 Hill was trading from 4 Wood Street and there is an entry for him in the Census for that 

year, aged 45 as a Widower with three children and two servants living there.  

He was later to work  in partnership with his son, Edward Lyons Hill, until 1864, when their business as Hill & Son, gilders and

picture restorers was dissolved. The father then advertised that he was retiring from business after 50 years, recommending 

his son as his late partner and successor The father died on 9 December 1865 at his home at 4 Wood Street.

Edward Lyons, the son of John Hill was recorded in 1851 at Kingsmead, as a restorer of ancient paintings, with wife, Sarah 

Ann, and two young sons, Edward and John. He moved into his father’s former home, 4 Wood St, where he was recorded in 

the 1871, 1881 and 1891 censuses. In 1871 as a picture restorer and gilder, employing two men and two boys, with his wife 

and nephew, Frederick, age 17, a gilder. In 1881 as a picture restorer and frame maker, employing three men and two boys, 

with his wife. In 1891, by now age 70, as a picture restorer and gilder, a widower, with his granddaughter, Elizabeth. He died 

at 11 Argyle St, age 79, in February 1900. It was during Edwards time, that in 1871,new  plate glass shop fronts were 

constructed that extended the premises into the Street. 

He was followed in business by Freeth-Smith & Chard  in 1897 who carried on a similar business there until 1925. The 

following year after  taking on the lease, the building was to suffer a devastating fire that destroyed all their stock and most of 

the interior apart from their Picture gallery in the former garden at the rear. They were fortunately well insured and their 

business soon returned. The partnership between Frederick John Freeth Smith and Ernest Collins Chard, trading as Freeth 

Smith and Chard, carvers, gilders and picture dealers at 4 Wood St, was dissolved six months later .The business continued 

to advertise as Freeth Smith & Chard until 1901 and subsequently as Freeth Smith & Co. Frederick John Freeth Smith (1869-

1927) can be found in census records, in 1901 as Freeth Smith, artists colourman and picture dealer, He died age 59 in 

December 1927, two years after giving up his lease on 4 Wood Street. 

The Rivers family were to be the landlords  for most of the properties that formed the Queens Square Estate from its 

construction in the early 18th century until its eventual sale in 1919. 
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They had seen the rent on no. 4 increase over the years from £3 to £64 per annum over that time. On June 24th 1919 there 

was an auction of most of their estate at the Castle Hotel in Bath by Gudgeon and Sons. This included Queens Square, Old 

King Street, Gay Street, John Street as well as all of Wood Street. No. 4 was advertised as being held on a seven year

lease from 1915 by Freeth, Smith, Antique Dealers. It failed to reach its reserve of £1200 and was withdrawn. It was retired 

builder Thomas Kingerlee who the following year was to pay £1400 for the freehold from the Trustees. He would have been 

76 at that time and shown as living with his wife at Weston Road in Bath. He held the freehold for just two years and 

subsequently sold it on April 24th to Mrs. Edith Marie Holbrook for £1750, with Freeth Smith as tenants. Edith would have 

been 55 in that year and living with her husband, Fredrick at 13 South Parade in Bath. It was to be her son in law, James 

Edward Bentley Hunt and Charles Percival Vanstone who were to take over the lease in 1925 and open an Electrical and 

Radio shop there. James would have been just 27 in that year. The business was a great success, and they were able to 

take out a large mortgage and purchase the freehold from James`s mother in law on the 15th December 1928 for £2185. 

Rates Books show James living with his wife Olive and two children at the address. He was initially in partnership with 

Charles Percival Vanstone and in 1935 paid him £600 for his share of the business. 

In 1937 Wallace Harden paid £2,100 to James Bentley Hunt for the freehold of 4 Wood Street with him continuing as tenant.

He had married Olive Holbrook in 1922 and in 1939 Census is described as an Electrical Engineer living at Beckford Road 

and having a business in Green Street in Bath. The Red Cross were to take over the lease on 4 Wood Street in due course 

for their headquarters during the second world war. 

In 1944 The Queens Restaurant paid £3250 to Wallace Harden for the freehold of no. 4 Wood Street and opened it with the 

neighbouring no. 5 as a Restaurant with kitchens at the rear of the premises. It was a popular meeting place for events 

which are often documented in the Bath Chronicle.  

After a number of years as a restaurant the freehold of the building was bought by Andrew James Dando for £5650 in 1956 

who returned it to an Antique Shop. He had founded his business in Midsomer Norton near Bath in 1915. After serving in 

France during W.W.I he moved to Bath and was in partnership with his brother Arthur (another brother, George also had an 

antique shop in Bath) at Princes Buildings on George Street, later opening his own shop at 13 Old Bond Street. In 1956 the 

business moved around the corner to 4 Wood Street where it was continued by his son Gordon who became one of the 

leading provincial ceramics dealers as well as having an extensive stock of period furniture. In 1977 Gordon’s son Andrew 

joined his father, later starting his own business there with his wife Janice when Gordon retired in 1993. In 2002 they 

decided to transfer their business to Bradford on Avon where they lived, and the building was put up for sale by Gordon. It 

was subsequently bought by Neil Mattingly who had previously had gift shops in Canterbury. He then opened a similar 

traditional Gift Shop in the premises and his sons lived above it. The business was short lived as it was dependent on the 

passing trade from the drop off point of the Park and Ride in Queens Square and when it moved to Milsom Street in 2004 

this disappeared. He later leased the ground floor to the up market Estate Agents, Knight Frank who continue to this day to 

operate from the premises. The floors above were renamed Tylney House after the first occupant. Neil Mattingly
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Barton Farm 

At the rear of Jolly’s department store used to 

stand the Farmhouse to the Barton Farm on 

whose fields Queens Square and it’s 

surrounding streets were to be built. These 

were to include Wood Street and John Street. 

Above is one of the earliest photographs 

taken in Bath in 1849 of the property before it 

was demolished and rebuilt as the building 

you see today. On the left is a plan in 1690 of 

how it once looked.



The Rivers family – Owners of 4 Wood Street from 1729 until they sold it in 1920. 

REv,

Although Wood Street was not built until 1729, the land it stood on has an interesting 

history which I have briefly summarised here. It was originally part of the Barton Farm of 

Bath, which belonged to the Crown, but was held by the Priory of the Monastic Grange 

from the mid 13th century. The Estate passed through several hands over the years. In 

1591 the Colhurst family who owned it at that time sold it to Sir George Snigge who 

passed it on to his son. He in turn assigned it to his sister, Mary Jackson. It was later 

passé on to the Saunders family. The estate was settled on Robert Gay in 1699 on his 

marriage to Mary Saunders. Robert Gay was a Surgeon of London and Bath and later 

served as M.P. For Bath. Mary died in 1708 and Robert remarried Margaret Farmer. 

Upon his death in 1737 he left his estate to his daughter, Margaret Gay who married 

Thomas Garrard the following year. Dying in 1774 with no children Margaret Garrard 

bequeathed her estate to her brother-in-law Sir Benet Garrard with a request to convey 

the estate to Sir Peter Rivers, contingent on him taking the name of Gay. Sir Benet 

Garrard died in 1767 leaving in his Will the Walcot estate to Sir Peter Rivers. The estate 

was to pass through the family over a number of generations as shown here until a 

major part including Wood Street was finally sold by them in 1920.

Sir Peter Rivers inherited the Baronetcy upon the death of his brother Sir John in 1743. 

Both Sir Peter and his younger son Henry, later Sir Henry, became Reverends at 

Winchester Cathedral, where many of the family were also buried.

Upon Sir Peter Rivers Gay's death in 1790 the estate passed to Sir Thomas Rivers Gay 

eldest son of Sir Peter with Martha Coxe, daughter of William Coxe of London. Sir 

Thomas, dying in 1805 with no children, bequeathed the estate to his mother Dame 

Martha Rivers Gay, who managed the estate until 1834 when she settled it on the then 

Sir Henry Rivers, her younger son, before dying shortly thereafter in 1835. Upon his 

death in 1851 the estate passed to his eldest surviving son Sir James Francis Rivers.

At the time of Sir Henry Rivers' death the estate was mortgaged to its greatest extent, Sir 

James Francis Rivers married Catherine Eastcott a Widow, of Bath, in 1867 but died 

childless in 1869, the estate passed to his only surviving brother Sir Henry Chandos 

Rivers who then died a year later in 1870 also childless; with no male heir the Baronetcy 

was therefore extinguished.

The estate was bequeathed, in trust, by Sir Henry Chandos Rivers to Thomas Frederick 

Inman, a solicitor of Bath, who then managed the estate as a trustee on behalf of Sir 

Henry Chandos Rivers' surviving sisters and their children until 1903 when the 

trusteeship was passed to Henry Mills Skrine and the Rev. Prebendary Benjamin Norton 

Thompson. From the early 20th Century the estate began to be sold, with Sale auctions 

known to have been held in 1908, 1919, and 1920; the final parts of the estate that still 

belonged to descendants of Sir Henry Chandos' sisters are believed to have been sold 

in the 1980s.

Rev. Sir Peter

Rivers Gay

RIVERS
FAMILY 

TREE



A Painting of John Wood with Robert Gay – the owner of Barton Farm.

The Four Worthies being Richard Jones, standing, Ralph Allen and Robert Gay seated with John Wood standing. 



A carved wooden Bust of John Wood 

in 1767 when he was 49 years of age. 

John Wood – Architect of Wood Street that was built in 1729. 

John Wood`s map of Queen`s Square in 1735 showing Wood Street, 
On the opposite side is the extensive garden of Doctor Harrington.

It was in December 1728 that the ground was opened for the first block of what was to be 

Wood Street. It had been three years since John Wood had imparted his design to Robert 

Gay, an eminent surgeon in Hatton Garden and proprietor of the land on their first 

conference on the last day of December in 1725. Robert Gay was to lease the land for 99 

years and in turn John was to parcel it up into smaller 98 year tenancies. It was on the fields 

of the former Barton Farm that the architect was to design many of the famous buildings 

including Queens Square and the Circus. The Street linking them was to be called Gay 

Street after the landowner, who was to also have a house there. Robert Gay was an 

eminent Surgeon at St. Bartholomew’s Hospital in London and a Fellow of the Royal Society 

who had  acquired the Manor of Walcot, on the northwest side of Bath by virtue of his wife's 

inheritance. He was M.P. for Bath in the House of Commons between 1720 and 1734 and 

was to die in 1738, aged 62.

John Wood the Elder 
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Buck`s View of Bath showing John Wood`s  Queen`s Square development in 1734 

This section of a view of Bath by Nathaniel and Samuel Buck in 
1734 is surprisingly accurate. It shows the new buildings 
designed by John Wood the elder as part of the Queens Square 
development he began in 1729. On the left is an engraving of 
how he originally envisaged Wood Street which was to be later 
simplified to the design we see today.



Earl Tylney at no. 4 Wood Street from 1734 until 1749 

The Tylney Family in the Saloon at Wanstead by Old 

Nollekens, 1740. The Earl is seated at right, attended by 

his son John, right; his wife sits at the table opposite 3rd 

son Lt. Josiah RN, whilst a daughter in blue stands 

behind. To the left is the infant James Long, with father 
Sir Robert Long looking on.

Tylney House is named after its first occupant - Earl Tylney. The 

inital Rates book for the Street is dated 1734, four years after 

the foundation stone was laid. It shows a Mr. Dixon taking the 

first three houses followed by Earl Tylney, then Mrs. Parker and 

Mr Robert Matthews. Earl Tylney was one of John Wood`s 

backers. He was formerly of the Child Banking Dynasty and of 

Wanstead House in Essex. It was in 1715 that Sir Richard 

Child, lord of the manors of Wanstead and Woodford set about 

building himself a magnificent new house at Wanstead, which 

was later described as one of the noblest houses in England. In 

1718 he was created Viscount Castlemaine, and in 1731 Earl 

Tylney. He was extremely wealthy with a total income of 

£10,000 a year and traveled between his many properties. His 

sister was to write “ Lord Tylney is the most uncertain creature 

in the world, for he knows not where to fix next month. 

Sometimes he says he will go to Bath, and the next day he 

says he will go to London”. He maintained his house in Bath 

until 1749 and was to die the following year aged 70.

Sir Richard Child - Earl Tylney (1680 – 1750)



John and Catherine  Knightley-Wightwick at no. 4 Wood Street from 1749 to 1764

The City Rate Books show John Knightley Esq. as the next 

tenant after Earl Tylney. His full name was John Knightley -

Wightwick and his family had for centuries been Lords of 

the Manor of Berkswell, Solihull in the Midlands. He was 

born in 1712 to John and Mary Whitwick Knight and in 1729 

went up to Trinity College in Oxford for his degree. In 1744, 

aged 32 he married Catherine Musgrave at St. Swithins

Church in Bath. They were later in 1749 to move to 4 Wood 

Street which they occupied until 1764. This was to be the 

year of his death. He was to leave a substantial Estate, 

which is detailed in his Will, to his wife. She was to live on 

until 1812 and both were buried in the village church in 

Their ancestral home of Berkswell. There is a fine marble 

memorial to them illustrated here.

In 1744, John Knightley Wightwick marries 
Catherine Musgrave at St. Swithins Church in Bath.

Memorial to Catherine Whitwick Knightley in Berkswell ChurchJohn Whitwick Knightley`s Will



Early View of Bath showing John Wood`s  Queen`s Square development.

Map of Queens Square. Bath by John Wood in 1735

Robin`s View of Bath showing  Queen`s Square development in 1754. 

Harcourt Masters Map 1786



Francis Chalie, Wine Merchant at no. 4 Wood Street from 1765 to 1769 

Francis Chalie was to reside at no.4 Wood Street from 1767 until 1769. Here he was to establish a Wine Merchants 

business at the property. The gentleman was to go on to succeed in Bath and eventually create a large enterprise at no. 14 

Mincing Lane in London. He was famous in his day and the European Magazine in 1810 published an engraving of him 

based on a painting by James Drummond. Alongside it they briefly described his life. He was born in 1741 in London and 

was sent to Geneva to be educated and was married in the year 1766 and resided in Bath from that period to 1785 when he 

returned to his family establishment in Mincing Lane, being engaged as a wine merchant. He came to a sad end in 1811 

when it was reported that he was sitting on his horse and inquiring after one which was to be sold at Mr. Halls in Grosvenor 

Place, when he dropped off, with an Apoplectic fit and died in a few minutes.

Francis Chalie advert at Chandos Building in the Bath Chronicle 1788

Mincing Lane. London. Advert in 1811 for his Stock of Wines

Francis Chalie at 4 Wood Street in1767 Marriage at Batheaston in 1777.



Early Residents of no. 4 Wood Street from 1767 until 1782 

1769 Mr. William Buckle

1773 Lady Anne Shuckburgh

1774 Mr James Browne

Mr and Mrs Buckle reside at no. 4 Wood Street in 1769 according to the 

Bath Rates Book for that year. The only reference I could find for them 

was an entry in the Bath Chronicle to their arrival in the City in that year 

on the 21st December.

Lady Anne Shuckburgh was to only rent no.4 Wood Street for just over 

a year in 1773. This must have been a terrible time for her as her 

husband Sir Charles Shuckburgh had visited Bath earlier in the year 

and had died there soon after. She was born in 1749 and had married 

her husband the 4th Baronet of Shuckburgh in 1749, where he 

possessed a large Estate in the village near Stratford upon Avon. Lady 

Anne died in 1776 aged 56 and was buried with her husband at the 
village church.

James Browne was to occupy no. 4 Wood Street briefly in 1774. There 

is little known about him apart from the fact that he continued to live in 

Bath until his death in 1788 at his lodgings. He was buried in Bath 

Abbey where there is a marble memorial to the gentleman.

William Buckle at 4 Wood Street in 1769

Lady Shuckburgh at 4 Wood Street in 1773

James Browne at 4 Wood Street in 1774

James  Browne`s Will.James  Browne`s MemorialShuckburgh Manor House



Mrs Georgina Brocas was to live at no. 4 Wood Street from 

1776 until 1784. She was the widow of the very Rev. 

Theophilus Brocas, D.D. After vacating her house in Wood 

Street she moved to Batheaston and it was there she died 

in 1789. Her maiden name was Powell and she married 

Theophilus Brocas in 1735.

He was a scion of this family, which held numerous 

lordships in the South of France, mostly in the 

neighbourhood of Bordeaux, He escaped from France at 

the Revolution, and having taken Holy Orders, was 

appointed by the Crown to the Deanery of Killala, and the 

Vicarage of St. Anne's, Dublin. For his valuable services in 

promoting the arts and manufactures of Ireland, he was 

presented with the freedom of the city of Dublin ; he died in 

1770, and was interred in St. Anne's Churchyard, Dublin. 

They had three children: John (Rev) who married Jane 

Broom in 1766, Elizabeth who married Calham and Harriet 

married Captain William Cary in 1771. 

Friday died at Batheaston, Mrs. Brocas, widow of 

the late and mother of the present Dean Brocas. 

16 April 1789 - Bath Chronicle

Georgina Brocas at 4 Wood Street in 1781

Georgina Brocas at 4 Wood Street in 1776

Georgina 

Brocas`s son, 

Dean John 

Bocas visits 
Bath in 1778

Georgina Brocas, Widow at no. 4 Wood Street from 1776 to 1783 



Nathaniel Foy, Dentist at no. 4 Wood Street from 1783 to 1789 

Mr. FOY, Dentist, is  removed from Green Street, to his 

House No. 4, in Wood Street, opposite 

Northumberland- Buildings. His name on the door –

His house to be let in Green Street. In thorough repair. 

Enquire as above. 13 October 1785 - Bath Chronicle

Lately died at his house in Wood Street, in an 

advanced age, Mr. Foy, dentist ;--a tender husband 

arid sincere friend. 15 January 1789 - Bath Chronicle

Mr Foy, dentist, is removed from the Vineyards to corner 

house of Queen St, Queen Sq, opposite the E-end of 

Northumberland Bldgs, Bath, where he continues to give 

attendance from 10am to 4pm 4 September, 1783 - Bath 

Chronicle

Nathaniel Foy at 4 Wood Street in 1789
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James King – Master of Ceremonies at Lower Assembly Rooms, lived at no. 4 Wood Street from 1790 to 1793

Between 1790 and 1793, James King was recorded in the Bath Chronicle, 

Directories and Rates Books as renting no. 4 Wood Street. He would be 

forever remembered thanks to Jane Austen in her novel, Northanger Abbey 

as Master of Ceremonies at the Lower Assembly Rooms in Bath. There is 

also another link with Jane Austen in her choice of characters with the use 

of Tylney in naming Henry Tilney in the same novel. We have recorded 

below more information about James King.

James King was  the Master of Ceremonies whom Jane Austen mentions 

by name in Northanger Abbey, and who effected the introduction between 

Catherine Morland and Henry Tilney. He was the Master of Ceremonies at 

the Lower rooms from 1785. In 1805 he became the Master of Ceremonies 

at the Upper Rooms. But he was also the Master of Ceremonies at another 

spa with which Jane Austen was familiar. He served, during their summer 

season, at Cheltenham in Gloucestershire from 1803 until his death in 

1816. (56) Meet Henry Tilney | 
Northanger Abbey - YouTube

A Caricature of a Master of Ceremonies by T. Rowlandson The Lower Assembly Rooms in the foreground

Click below for a link to the YouTube 

sequence when Henry Tilney meets James 
King in BBC adaptation of the Novel

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=ZMOdt3pZ36s
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=ZMOdt3pZ36s


James King – Master of Ceremonies at Lower Assembly Rooms, lived at no. 4 Wood Street from 1790 to 1793

Tickets to be had of Mr. King, no. 4 Wood Street.

To be sold, a House situated No.4, in Wood 

street, Bath, late in the occupation of JAMES 

KING, esq, Master of Ceremonies. All persons 

desirous to treat for the same are requested to send 

written proposals sealed, and directed to W.W. at 

Russells Library, Miles Court, such proposals to be 

sent in by or before the last day of the present year, 

as if not sold by that time, it is otherwise engaged. 

The key is with Mr.Thomas, at the Livery Stables in 

Barton Street, who will show the premises.
An advert in the Bath Chronicle 6th December 1792.

Lower Assembly Rooms.

The Ball for the Master of Ceremonies will be on 

Friday, January 8th, 1790.Tickets to be had of Mr. 

King, Wood Street, at Bull`s and Marshall` Libraries, 

and at the Rooms. Bath Chronicle 6th January 1790 

James King by John Raphael Smith



James King – Master of Ceremonies at Lower Assembly Rooms, lived at no. 4 Wood Street from 1790 to 1793

At the Upper Assembly Rooms in Bath, poor Catherine Morland had to sit out the dance, having made no acquaintance with 

any gentleman. Luck was on her side later in the week when she and Mrs. Allen visited the Lower Rooms:

They made their appearance in the Lower Rooms; and here fortune was more favourable to our heroine. The master of the 

ceremonies introduced to her a very gentlemanlike young man as a partner; his name was Tilney. He seemed to be about 

four or five and twenty, was rather tall, had a pleasing countenance, a very intelligent and lively eye, and, if not quite 

handsome, was very near it. His address was good, and Catherine felt herself in high luck. There was little leisure for 

speaking while they danced; but when they were seated at tea, she found him as agreeable as she had already given him 

credit for being. He talked with fluency and spirit – and there was an archness and pleasantry in his manner which 

interested, though it was hardly understood by her. After chatting some time on such matters as naturally arose from the 

objects around them, he suddenly addressed her with – “I have hitherto been very remiss, madam, in the proper attentions 

of a partner here; I have not yet asked you how long you have been in Bath; whether you were ever here before; whether 

you have been at the Upper Rooms, the theatre, and the concert; and how you like the place altogether. I have been very 

negligent – but are you now at leisure to satisfy me in these particulars? If you are I will begin directly.” – Chapter 3, 
Northanger Abbey, Jane Austen when Henry Tilney meets James King

The Lower Assembly Rooms  can be seen on the right in this watercolour of the fashionable Terrace Walk in Bath



James King 

The lower rooms, built in 1708, were located on Terrace Walk near 

beautiful South Parade off the banks of the Avon River. James King, the 

Master of Ceremonies who introduced Henry Tilney to Catherine 

Morland, was an historic figure who actually performed as Master of 

Ceremonies in the lower rooms from 1785 to 1805. He then became 

M.C. of the upper rooms, which had recently been built in the newer 

more fashionable neighborhood uptown near The Circus. The Lower 

Assembly rooms sat in the older city center lower down, hence the 

distinction between upper and lower rooms. The lower rooms were used 

during the day for promenading and visiting and at night for dancing. 

Beautiful stone walks and terraces surrounded the building, which 

encouraged people to gather to see and be seen and dawdle away a few 

pleasant hours

James King at 4 Wood Street in 1790

James King at 4 Wood Street in 1794

Print of James King for sale in 1793

Jane Austen



James King

The role of Master of Ceremonies was narrowly defined. He 

presided over social functions, welcomed newcomers, and 

enforced an official code of regulations designed to preserve 

decorum and promote social interaction. For this treason, the 

Master of Ceremonies was often referred to as the “King,” 

because his social authority within the city of Bath was 

regarded as absolute.” Jane Austen mentioned James King as 

Master of Ceremonies in the Lower Assembly Rooms, which 

forcibly reminds us that Northanger Abbey , while written in 

1798 or 1799 (according to Cassandra), was not published 

until after her death.

Mr Tilney proceeds to tell Catherine what he would like her to 

write in her journal, and in so doing, mentions by name the 

Master of Ceremonies:

"‘I danced with a very agreeable young man, introduced by Mr

King; had a great deal of conversation with him—seems a 

most extraordinary enius—hope I may know more of him.'”

At first glance, it seems as if Jane Austen has got her facts 

wrong. When Northanger Abbey was published in 1818, Mr

King had long since ceased to be the Master of Ceremonies at 

the Lower Rooms; he was promoted to the Upper Rooms in 

1805. However, Jane Austen wrote Northanger Abbey in the 

late 1790s and first submitted it for publication in 1803, at 

which time Mr. King was still presiding over the Lower Rooms.

King, who had served in the British army during the American 

war, began his rule in Bath in 1785, when he was elected 

without opposition as M.C. of the Lower Rooms. In 1805, King 

became M.C. of the more prestigious Upper Rooms and 

reigned there until his death in 1816. Austen knew very well 

that her contemporary readers would enjoy the joke of having 

this illustrious gentleman introduce her characters to each 

other, and this may be one of the first, if not the first, examples 

of interpolating a real person into a work of fiction.



Wood Street painted by William Blackamore in 1785
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This view by William Blackamore shows Wood Street at the time that James King was living at no. 4. Opposite the 

house was the beautiful gardens that surrounded Doctor Harringtons house, which were to be replaced 

by Northumberland Buildings shortly afterwards. In the distance is Queens Square Chapel designed by John Wood  

at the corner of Queens Square. The houses have their distinctive Bow windows on the ground floor where 

business would show their goods or services. On the corner at this time was John Gents Apothecary.



John Self, Carver and Gilder is at no. 4 Wood Street from 1797 until 1802

JOHN SELF, Canvas and Gilder,

No. 4, WOOD-STREET, BATH,

Returns his grateful thanks to his friends and the public for their 

kind patronage and support, and takes this opportunity of informing 

them, he has this day declined business in favour of Mr. W.M. Smith, 

whom he recommends particularly as being thoroughly competent to 

the execution of all orders that may be instructed to him, and in whose 

behalf, he solicits a continuance of their favours. June 24th 1802

1 November, 1787 Bath Chronicle

Mr, John Self', carver and gilder, of this city, 

to Miss Anna Moore, of Sea, near Ilminfter. 

yesterday was married at St. James's 

church 19 July 1787 - Bath Chronicle.

1797 Mr, John Self’ (Miss Smith to pay) pays 

7s6d rates for 4 Wood Street in Bath. 

1799 Mr, John Self’ pays 7s6d rates for 4 Wood St.

1811 John Self’ is buried in Bath Abbey. 

John Self appears as the first of a number of Carvers and Gilders 

who were to have workshops and trade from no. 4 Wood Street. He is 

a regular advertiser in the Bath Chronicle and one of his first is in 

1787 when he is at the Golden Head in Queen Street. This is the year 

he married Anna More from Sea, Ilminster He first appears in the 

City Rate books for 4 Wood Street in 1797 and the last in 1802 when 

he sells his business to William Smith. He spends his final days in 

Bath and when he dies in 1811 is buried in the Abbey.



1802 William Smith, Carver and Gilder. No. 4 Wood Street, Bath. 

Begs to inform the Nobility, Gentry, &c. that he has this day taken 

to the business of Mr. Self, and hopes, by a strict attention to the 

execution of all their commands, to merit their support. – June 24th

William Smith - Carver and Gilder is at no. 4 Wood Street from 1802 until 1822

There is an advert on June 24th for William Smith in the 

Bath Chronicle informing the public that he was taking over 

the former business of John Self. He is described as a 

Carver and Guilder. In 1805 no.5 appears to be subdivided 

into 5 & 6. William Smith then takes on the lease of both 4 

and 5 He is to live and trade at both nos. 4 and 5 Wood 

Street for 20 years until 1822 when he leaves and moves 

to larger premises at no. 42 Milsom Street. Sadly, this is 

not a great success, and he next appears in the pages of 

the paper as a bankrupt in 1826.

William Smith at 4 & 5 Wood Street in 1810 William Smith at 4 & 5 Wood Street in 1820

William Smith`s Letter in 1821 Auction of 42 Milsom Street in 1826

Bankruptcy in 1826

William Smith move to  42 Milsom 

Street premises  In 1822. He is 
also trying to let 4 Wood Street

Pigots

Direcory
1822



Hugh Barker 1822 - 1831

24 February 1831 - Bath Chronicle. Hugh Barker at 4 Wood Street in 1830

Hugh Barker marriage to Mary Gregory in 1798

Pigot`s Directory in 1830

Showing Hugh Barker at 
4 Wood Street in Bath

Hugh Barker`s burial at Walcot in 1830

There is a change in the fortunes of 4 Wood Street when the 

property is taken over by Hugh Barker after its sale by William 

Smith. Hugh opens a  Woollen drapery business there in 1822. 

He originates from Clifton in Bristol where he had married Mary 

Gregory in 1798. There is an entry in Pigots 1830 directory for 

him at 4 Wood Street as a Draper. Sadly, this was to be his last 

year as there is a record of his burial on July 27 in Walcot

churchyard aged 72.   the following year there is an advert for the 

sale of his stock of cloth, clothes and furniture at 4 Wood Street. 

There is a note at the bottom that the house was now to be 

let. The advert below reveals his extensive stock of cloth and 

clothes held in the premises. 



STOCK IN TRADE of

MR HARRISON,
Who is leaving Bath to engage

in an established Business in London

Together with the advantageous LEASE of the improved 

PREMISES, No. 4, WOOD STHEET of which 12 years are 

unexpired; and a delightful Flower and Fruit GARDEN, with 

Fountain, Fish Pond, Summer house, &e. 

TO BE SOLD BY AUCTION, By Mr PRICE, On Thursday and 

FRIDAY, 21st and 22nd of July.

THE STOCK IN TRADE Comprises, in addition to the 

Looking Glasses, several modern carved and gilt and 

composition Frames, of various dimensions, finished and 

unfinished Brackets, Work Benches, Frame Moulds, Silvering 

Stone and Weights, and numerous Implements of Business. 

The PAINTINGS are by Moreland, Luny, Brueghel, Teniers, 

G.Poussin, Caraccci and several of the Flemish and English 

Schools purchased from the most celebrated Collections the 

PRINTS by WILKIE, STRANGE, WOOLLEIT, &c, together 

with several fine DRAWINGS.

The HOUSEHOUD FURNITURE comprises a set of 

mahogany chairs and sofa spring seats in satin hair cloth 

sliding dining tables chiffonier good bedsteads and furniture, 

and Bedding Wardrobe, chests of drawers, and the usual bed 

room appendages, in clean and good condition And will be 

SOLD on THURSDAY, 21st inst, also at  One o’clock, The 

LEASE of the PREMISES, Walled Garden, &e.

The Stock in Trade and Implements of Business, Paintings, 

Prints, &e. on Friday 22nd inst.

Sale to commence each day at 12 o'clock. The whole will be on 

view on Wednesday 20th inst., when Catalogues may be had.

John Harrison rents 4 Wood Street from 1834 until 1836

An advert for the sale of Mr Harrisons business in the Bath Chronicle on 14 July 1836

An Advert for Mr. Baldwin, 

Portrait Painter  at no. 4 Wood 

Street  on 20 February 1834

29 January 1835 - Bath

Although John Harrison rents 4 Wood Street for just two years, there is a tremendous amount known about him as he 

regularly advertised his business in the Bath Chronicle. Just a few of his entries in the paper are shown here. He appears 

to have run a very comprehensive business covering picture framing, mirrors and plate glass. He also offered a collection 

of paintings and prints. Amongst the paintings he was to sell was “the Opening of the Sixth Seal” by Francis Danby, which 

now hangs in the Victoria Gallery in Bath. In July 1836 there is a wonderful insight into both his business and his house in 

an advert relating to his move from Bath to London. It is very detailed and shows his stock of paintings included many 

famous artists including Brueghel and Teniers. It also showed that he had a “delightful Flower and Fruit Garden with 

a Fountain, Fishpond and Summer House” at the rear of no. 4 Wood Street.



John Harrison rents 4 Wood Street from 1834 until 1836

18 December 1834 - Bath Chronicle

24 December 1835 - Bath Chronicle 

12 February 1835 - Bath Chronicle

24 March 1836 - Bath Chronicle

Opening of the Sixth Seal.

In one of John’s first visions of 

the end of the world (Revelation 

6:9–15), the opening of the 

sixth seal unleashes the Last 

Judgment.



22 December 1836 - Bath Chronicle

The eligible and Central BUSINESS PREMISES, No. 4 WOOD 

STREET, Unfurnished 11 August 1836 - Bath Chronicle

Northumberland 

Buildings

Wood Street

21

Queens Square

William Lewis rents 4 Wood Street from 1836 until 1837

This marvelous view looking down on to Queens Square was 

painted by Harvey Wood in 1824. You can just make out nos.1 and 

2 Wood Street frontages, whilst they rest are obscured by the rear 

of Northumberland Buildings opposite the Street. It would seem 

that after no. 4 Wood Street was vacated by John Harrison it was 

advertised in July 1836 and as a result the lease was taken on by 

William Lewis who opened a Furniture business in the building. His 

advert describing his stock and services is shown here on the left.



Wood Street in 1840

This is an imaginary view of Wood Street based on a similar Street print taken in 1840 of how it would have looked 
in 1840 with a number of bow fronted shops which would have included Hill & Sons Picture Gallery at no.4. 



The business seems to have originated in the 18th century with that of the carver and gilder, John Deare, for whom. 

Following his death in 1794, Deare was succeeded by his son James. In 1833 John Marshman Hill advertised from his 

looking-glass warehouse at 9 Kingsmead St as J.M. Hill, late Deare & Hill, carver, gilder, glass and picture frame 

manufacturer, offering glasses of large dimensions at London terms. By 1841 Hill was trading from 4 Wood St.

John Marshman Hill (c.1792/4-1865) and his wife Mary lived at 9 Kingsmead St, Bath, as is apparent from the register 

recording the birth of their sons, Edward Lyons Hill (1820-1900) and John Marshman Hill (1822-44), and a further four 

children by 1835. Census records provide further information. John Marshman Hill, the father, was born at Trowbridge, 

Wiltshire. In 1851, he was described as a widower, age 57, with a teenage daughter and two teenage sons at 4 Wood St, 

Walcot, Bath, working as a picture dealer and restorer and employing six men. By 1861 he  was still at 4 Wood St, 

Walcot, age now given as 69, a gilder employing five men and two boys.

John Marshman Hill, the father worked in partnership with his son, Edward Lyons Hill, until 1864, when their business as 

Hill & Son, gilders and picture restorers, trading ‘for some years past’, was dissolved. The father then advertised that he 

was retiring from business after 50 years, recommending his son as his late partner and successor (Bath Chronicle 28 

April 1864). The father died on 9 December 1865 at his home at 4 Wood St, leaving effects worth under £2000. 

John Marshman Hill rents 4 Wood Street from 1841 until 1864

1841 Census describes John Hill aged 45 

as a Carver and Guilder as a Widower with 

three children and two servants.  

An advert from The Post 

Office Directory in 1858 that 

shows that they were 

established as Picture 

Dealers and Restorers by 

John Deare in 1760. They 

had moved from 9 

Kingsmead Street to 4 Wood 
Street by then.  

John Marshman Hill and his family 

are listed here at their addresses as 
voting for G.T. Scobell in 1851 

John Marshman Hill`s Will



John Marshman Hill and Edward 
Lyons Hill at 4 Wood Street in 1860 John Marshman Hill` s list of Births

All baptised at The Baptist Chapel, 

Somerset Street, Bath. John 

Marshman and Mary Hill are 

recorded as living in Claverton

Street, Widcombe, Bath and then 

Kingsmead Street, Walcot, Bath

Mary Hill Marshman - 25 May 1814 

(first child) . 

1841 Silverthorne`s Bath  
Directory

1884 Directory

John Marshnan Hill rents 4 Wood Street from 1841 until 1864

The marriage of John Marchman Hill to Mary Lyons in  1813 

16 April 1863 - Bath Chronicle

John Hill at 4 Wood Street in 1841



15 June 1848 - Bath Chronicle

29 November 1849 - Bath Chronicle

J.M. Hill retiring from the Business of Gilder and Picture Restorer, 

begs to return his sincere thanks to the support he has received 

from the Nobility, Gentry and the Public generally during the last 50 

years, and confidently recommends as his Successor, his Son and 

late Partner, who will carry on the Business as usual, 4, Wood 

Street, Queen Square. 

E.L. HILL, in succeeding to the above Business, returns grateful 

thanks for favours received in connection with his Father for many 

years past, and hopes by supplying first class workmanship, 

punctually, at a fair remunerating profit, to ensure a continuance of 

that support which has hitherto been extended to the firm of HILL 

and SON. E.L.H. takes this opportunity of assuring his Patrons and 

the public generally that the whole of the Business of Picture Lining 

and Restoration is done on the Premises. 

28 April 1864 - Bath Chronicle

22 January 1852 - Bath Chronicle

John Marshnan Hill rents 4 Wood Street from 1841 until 1864



Edward Lyons, the son of John Hill was recorded in 1851 at Kingsmead, Walcot, as a restorer of ancient 

paintings, with wife, Sarah Ann, and two young sons, Edward and John. He moved into his father’s former 

home, 4 Wood St, where he was recorded in the 1871, 1881 and 1891 censuses. In 1871 as a picture restorer 

and gilder, employing two men and two boys, with his wife and nephew, Frederick, age 17, a gilder. In 1881 as a 

picture restorer and frame maker, employing three men and two boys, with his wife. In 1891, by now age 70, as 

a picture restorer and gilder, a widower, with his granddaughter, Elizabeth. He died at 11 Argyle St, age 79, in 

February 1900. He was followed in business by Freeth-Smith & Chard by 1850, the business was also listed as 

picture dealers and in 1864 as gilders and picture restorers. Hill’s impressed stamp, reading HILL/ LINER/ 

BATH, can be found on the stretcher of Thomas Gainsborough’s John Palmer (Philadelphia Museum of Art), 

and on the G.B. Piazzetta circle, The Death of St Andrew Avellino (Holburne Museum, Bath

Edward Lyons Hill rents 4 Wood Street from 1864 until 1896

Edward Lyons Hill 1864-1896. At 

9 Kingsmead, Bath by 1833-1837 

or later, 4 Wood St, Queen Square, 

Bath by 1841-1896, also 11 John St 

by 1882-1884 or later. Carvers and 

gilders, from c.1850 picture 

restorers and picture dealers.

Hill Liner Stamp on “Death of St. Andrea 

Avelino” at the Holborne Museum. Bath 

The G.B. Piazzetta circle, ”The Death of 
St Andrew Avellino” (Holburne Museum)

Thomas Gainsborough’s John 
Palmer (Philadelphia Museum of Art)



1851 Census describes John Hill, Widow, aged 57 as a Picture Dealer and Restorer, employing 

6 men. He share 4 Wood Street with Eliza, aged 19, William, aged 15, Edward, aged 13 and 2 

servants. 

1881 Census describes Edward Hill, Widow, aged 60

1891 Census describes Edward Hill, Widow, aged 70

1871 Census describes Edward Hill, Widow, aged 50

1861 Census describes John Hill, Widow, aged 69

THE BATH FINE ART GALLERIES, 4, 

WOOD STREET, QUEEN SQUARE.

ME. E. L. HILL 

begs to announce that the above 

Galleries, containing over Two 

Thousand Square Feet of Hanging 

Space, are open to the Daily, and FREE 

OF CHARGE. SPECIALITY PRESENT 

on VIEW, TWO FINE PORTRAITS BY 

ROMNEY

22 July 1886 - Bath Chronicle

Edward Lyons Hill rents 4 Wood Street from 1864 until 1896

12 March 1896 - Bath Chronicle

Advert for 5 Wood Street in 1864
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13 July 1871 - Bath Chronicle

21 December 1871 - Bath Chronicle

Wood Street Improvements in 1871

22nd June 1871 - Bath Chronicle

In 1871 The Trustees of the Rivers Estate were to make improvements to their properties in Wood Street They 

employed the famous Bath Architect, John Elkington Gill. Each would have a new glass plate shop front.



Wood Street Improvements in 1871

These illustrations are from 

the original plans that John  

Elkington Gill submitted to 

the owners in 1871. They 

shows the alterations made 

to the frontages to allow the 

extension into the street 

with its large plate glass 

windows. No. 4 then rented 

by Edward Lyons Hill was 

the first to be altered. 



Freeth Smith & Chard 1896-1899, Freeth Smith & Co 1899-1926 at 4 Wood St, Bath 1896-1923 Picture restorers, later 

antique dealers and picture dealers.

Freeth Smith & Chard advertised in March 1896 that they had succeeded in business to Edward Lyons Hill. They stated that 

the restoration of pictures and the carving and gilding branch of the business were to be special features.

Their premises at 4 Wood Street were completely gutted by fire in August 1898 .Perhaps as a result, the partnership between 

Frederick John Freeth Smith and Ernest Collins Chard, trading as Freeth Smith and Chard, carvers, gilders and picture 

dealers at 4 Wood St, was dissolved six months later .The business continued to advertise as Freeth Smith & Chard until 

1901 and subsequently as Freeth Smith & Co. Frederick John Freeth Smith (1869-1927) can be found in census records, in 

1901 as Freeth Smith, artists colourman and picture dealer, in Clifton, Bristol, age 32, living with his father, Charles F. Smith, 

and mother, Mary, and in 1911 as Freeth Smith, antique dealer, at Box in Wiltshire, age 42, born Bristol, living with his 

father/mother. He died age 59 in December 1927, according to a notice concerning claims against his estate, describing him 

as a picture expert and restorer, late of 2 Roman villas, Box, and 36 Barton buildings, Bath,1928). 

Ernest Collins Chard (1869-1929?) was born in Bristol in 1869. He was described as a pictorial artist, living in Clevedon, in the 

1891 census. As an artist of 27 St Martin’s Lane, Cannon St, London, he patented an improvement in weighing machines in 

1895, as recorded in a Tasmanian newspaper (The Mercury 18 January 1895). 

Freeth-Smith & 

Chard (Late Hills) 

Picture Restorers 

and Liners

Freeth Smith & Chard rents 4 Wood Street from 1896 until 1926

12 March 1896 - Bath Chronicle Wood Street Directory in 1900



Insurance Report and Plan of 4 Wood Street in 1897.
Insurance report in 1897

No. 4 Wood Street. Part metal roofed and sky lighted. Basement, Ground, 2 Floors and 

Attic, and part ground floor only. Old but fairly substantial. Under one roof with nos. 3 & 5.

Retail Shop, Stock Rooms and Gallery for Pictures, Prints, Paintings. drawings, etc. 

Picture Frames, Mouldings, Mounts, Artist Colours and other requisites, Art Furniture and 

China. Part Retiring Room, Domestic and Offices.

Basement. Chiefly for packing cases, mouldings and lumber. A gas bracket turning 

through hole and wood partition required to be made a fixture. Extends under the Street 

pavement. This portion block or stone arched and separated from the rest of the 

basement by a passage. Unprotected grating into this passage, see margins, straw etc

here will be at once removed and none in future to be kept here.

Ground Floor. A stove in a gallery for warmth. The stove is on a slate slab and has about 

14feet of pipe taken vertically though the roof, is about 7inches from wood dado, pipe 

enclosed in iron collar, 2 inches larger in diameter, where passing through roof. The stove 

is said to be never used. Ordinary fireplace in shop for warmth.

First Floor. Ordinary fireplace in Retiring room for warmth, and gas cooling stove(metal 

supply pipe) on hearthstone of disused ordinary fireplace in domestic office

Second Floor. Ordinary fireplace in retiring room for warmth.

Blind Maker next door.

Ground Floor Store for packing cases and lumber

First floor Carver and gilders Workshop. Frames put together only, 4 bench’s, chips and 

shavings not allowed to accumulate. Stove for warmth, standing in shallow iron tray on 

stone slab, 5 feet of sheet iron, smoke pipe taken vertically through roof, all quite clear of 

combustible material. Gas stove on wood bracket in angle of wall. 2 feet of India rubble 

supply pipe. This stove is used for heating glue and occasionally for warming good size. 

No compo of gold size made.

The aforesaid are in sole tenure of Messrs. Freeth Smith and Chard and lit by coal gas 

only. Old established business and seems no one in the premises at night. C.H. 

Beauchamp. 13 October 1897.

This report by the Surveyor for the 

Lancashire Fire Insurance Company was 

taken a year after Freeth Chard took over 

the premises from Hill. Tragically on the 

12th March 1898 a fire tore through the 

building and the interior and stock were all 

destroyed. Fortunately, Freeth Chard were 

fully insured. 



Bath Chronicle 18 August 1898

Disastrous Fire at 4 Wood Street in Bath - Picture Dealers Premises Gutted- Nearly £2000 Damages



In Bath recently there have been many fires, small and unimportant, but not since the fire at the western corner of Cheap-street, more than three years ago, has one occurred of 

such dimensions as the outbreak on Tuesday evening at No. 4, Wood-street, premises in the occupation of Messrs. Freeth Smith and Chard, picture dealers, artists colourmens, 

carvers, and gilders. These extensive premises were completely gutted, the contents of all the rooms except the principal picture gallery being destroyed, and Messrs. Smith and 

Chard estimate that the damage done cannot be much under £2,000. Wood Street, as residents in this city are aware, is a row of three-storeyed houses running parallel, with 

Northumberland Buildings east ward from the bottom of Queens Square. A pile of buildings built many years ago in the substantial style not always imitated in the present day, 

and, no doubt, it is due to this fact that whilst the interior of the premises is burned out the exterior walls still remain intact. No 4, Wood-street was occupied in its entirety by 

Messrs. Freeth Smith and Chard for the purposes of their business. At No. 3, Mr. Tom Pabst carries on the business of a stationer and newsagent on the ground floor; on the first 

floor are the offices of Mr. H. Moger, Clerk to the Urban Sanitary Authority, and, still higher up, Mr. E. S. Payton's offices are situated. Messrs. E. J. Smith and Co., window blind 

makers, are the chief tenants at No. 5, Wood-street, the first floor rooms being occupied as offices by Messrs. Eyres and Parham,. Solicitors.

How the fire originated the parties chiefly concerned say, they are at a loss to understand. Our representative saw Messrs. Smith and Chard about midnight, and from what was 

then stated it appears that both left the premises a minute, or two before seven, o'clock, which is the usual closing hour. Mr. Smith cycled to Bristol, where he lives, and Mr. Chard, 

who resides on Beacon Hill, proceeded straight to a relative's house in Pulteney Gardens, from whence, sometime later, he was fetched to the scene of the fire. It was long after 

the outbreak had been mastered that Mr. Smith, to whom a friend telegraphed, was able to arrive in Bath by train from Bristol. Mr. Chard said he was the last to leave the room in 

which the fire is supposed to have originated, but in no way could he account for it. Things appeared to be quite safe when the doors were locked for the night no one lives on the 

premises. yet somewhere between 7.10 and 7.15 smoke as seen to be issuing from one of the upper floors very thickly. Information was taken to the Central Police Station by 

P.S. Pike named Rose, cellarman at. The Quiet-street Wine  vaults. Immediately the small hose truck was despatched, Sargt. Pike and P.C. Snell taking it to the spot, and 

Inspector Newport followed promptly after telephoning to Grove-street for Fire-Sergeant Short A telephonic message to the Widcombe Police Station brought the truck from there 

quickly to the spot, and a constable and all the constables at the Barracks. fetched the hose reel from the Assembly Rooms.

Meanwhile the Fire 1413 Brigade had been called up, a Mr. Sherbrook giving them the information at 7.21. Members went with two hose reels and the escape trucks, and on their 

arrival found that the fire had already gained a strong hold of the premises. Dense smoke issued in volumes from back and front, lames could be seen shooting forth from the 

windows. As police and firemen gained access to the premises with a view to reaching the seat of the outbreak, the crowd in front of the building and in adjoining thoroughfares 

became greater and greater, until many hundreds of people had congregated to witness this battle with the flames. As a consequence, of course, the workers, helped greatly by a 

few civilians, had their labours increased and their efforts amended hy and efficient- way. in which they set to work and bad. results as satisfactory as could have been expected. 

Under the direction of Chief Inspector Noble (the Chief Constable being out of town), the police got two deliveries attached in John-street, carrying the lengths of pipe through Mr. 

Steers's cycle depot, and here it may he mentioned that considerable damage was done, in this way to Mr. Steers's property. Another hose pipe was carried through a public 

passage just above, whilst other connections were made by the police and the Fire Brigade, the latter body being under the control of Captain Bright, in Barton Street, Queen 

Square, Quiet Street, and Milsom street. 

Among interested spectators of this contest waged between man and fire was his Worship the Mayor (Major Simpson). It was only lately that he had consigned to Messrs. Smith 

and Chard's care a collection of the late Colonel Tanner's pictures, but these, with other of the more valuable works in the main picture gallery, are believed to have been saved. 

From the roofs at the back, mounted on ladders in front of the doomed building, police and firemen played upon the flames with a very liberal supply of water, at good pressure, 

and little more than an hour had elapsed were complete mastery had been obtained over the flames. But great damage had been done by fire, and water. Each floor of the high

building, through floor after floor with remarkable rapidity, until even the roof was reached, and the partition walls dividing No. 4 from the adjoining houses had been burned 

through in places. There was some slight damage, chiefly by water, in Messrs. Moger's offices, but much greater was the damage sustained at No. 5. Here the fire had burned 

through in many places, and there is every likelihood that it was here, on the side of the premises where the staircase runs to the top of the house from the bottom, and where, on 

the ground floor, is a  sort of storage room, that the fire originated io the first  place, It raged most fiercely in, the neighbourhood of this staircase at any rate, and but for the fact 

that good work was done at the rear of the premises by the police and firemen, it is most likely the flames would have ex tended backwards until the picture gallery and contents 

aforementioned had been enveloped in the flames. 

As already stated, no reason is assigned for the outbreak. There were no lights upon the premises that day. Messrs. Smith and Chard took over the business, formerly carried on 

by the late Mr. Hill, between two and three years ago, and since then have made this shop much better known than formerly by holding exhibitions. Notable pictures on tour have 

been exhibited at No. 4. Wood  Street. It was here that Mr. C. M. Hodges's masterly work, " A Tale of Inkermann," was first shown to the public, C. Maggs's collection of paintings 

were on view. The property belongs to the Rivers Estate, and Messrs. Chard took over with the business the lease, which, we believe has another rear to run. As they were fully 

stocked, Mr. Smith considers the loss cannot be much less than £2,000.They are fully insured in the Lancashire Fire Company. 

Captain Bright and the police inspectors have prepared reports on the fire, giving facts and details embodied in this account, and whilst the police express thanks to a great 

number of civilians, who rendered valuable aid, with particular mention of Mr. Steers, whose premises were greatly damaged, and Mr. Crook. of Green-street, who, with his 

assistant, was amongst the earliest on the with spot, Captain Bright’s report speaks of help rendered by Waterman Chivers, ex-Fireman Dallimore, and Messrs. Martin and 

Daniels. Besides the Captain, members of the Brigade in attendance were Foreman G. Ellett, Engineer T. Ellett, Firemen Lucas, Tipper, E. Chivers, G. Chivers, Matthews, 

Burrows, Amery (of whose energetic efficient work onlookers spoke most highly), Cottell, Shackell, Wal Crook, Witham, and Newby. In addition to the police officers already 

mentioned, Det. Insp. and Dunford, with D.C. Tucker, were present, as were also Sergt. Powis and many constables. The premises were left guarded all night very necessary 

precaution, for once or twice during the night fire broke out in different parts, which, but for prompt measures, might have been dangerous.

Transcript of Report of devastating fire at no. 4 Wood Street  in the Bath Chronicle 18 August 1898

Disastrous Fire at 4 Wood Street in Bath - Picture Dealers Premises Gutted- Nearly £2000 Damages



4 Wood Street in the occupation of Mr. 

Freeth Smith at the rental of £63, the 

highest offer being £1200. 

28 June 1919 - Bath Chronicle

Auction of Rivers Estate including Wood Street in 1919 

Description of 4 Wood Street in the occupation of Mr. Freeth Smith.

Auction of Rivers Estate in 1919

21 3 4 5 6

O.S Plan of Wood Street



Thomas Henry Kingerlee buys 4 Wood Street from Rivers Trustees for £1400 in 1920
Thomas Henry Kingerlee was born on 

26 January 1843 in Banbury, Oxfon, his 

father, Thomas, was 32 and his mother, 

Caroline, was 35. He married Helen 

Dorcas Hunt and they had three 

children together. He then married Jane 

Herne Plummer on 23 March 1899. He 

died on 22 December 1928 in Bath, 

Somerset, at the age of 85.

Deed of Sale between James Butchart (Rivers family) and Thomas Kingerlee. 

He paid £1400 for 4 Wood Street, £200 more than the reserve in the 1920 

Auction of the Rivers Estate. Smith Freeth were paying £63 a year rent. 

Thomas Kingerlee in centre of photo

1911 Census shows 

Thomas Kingerlee aged 

68 as a retired builder 

born in Banbury, with his 

wife Jane, aged 46 and 

two servants. They were 

living at Weston Road in 

Bath in that year.



1920 26th April Sale of 4 Wood Street by Thomas 

Henry Kingerslee of Weston in Bath to Edith 

Marie Holbrook. Wife of Frederick Holbrook of 13 

South Parade, Cabinet maker for £1750.

DUAL CELEBRATION BY BATH COUPLE

The Bishop says, “shall live to a hundred," said Mrs. F. Holbrook after 

she and her husband Mr. Frederick Holbrook of 14 South Parade, Bath, 

had celebrate their diamond wedding on Sunday. Mr. Holbrook is 81 

and his wife 83. Although the anniversary their wedding was on the 

Thursday. Sunday was selected for combined celebration, to include 

Mrs Holbrook birthday on that day. and Mr. Holbrook's on Wednesday. 

Both are Roman Catholics,a special mass of thanksgiving was.offered

at St John's Church, South Parade, where Mr. Holbrook has been 

sidesman for many years.The Bishop of Clifton (the Rt. Rev. Joseph 

Rudderham) was present and chatted with the couple for some time 

before giving them pontifical blessing. Both, Mr. and Mr Hobrook have 

been in South Parade for 46 years. and have resided in Fanny Burney's 

old house No 14. for 30 years. Mr. Holbrook worked for Messrs. 

Mallett's in Milsom Street for 40 years, and Mrs. Holbrook had an 

antique shop in Wood Street. Bath and There are two daughters living. 

Their grandson is Mr. Bentley-Hunt, formerly with Jolly and Son, Ltd. 

Milsom Street, and now an auctioneer  away from Bath. 10 June 1950 -

Bath Chronicle 

Edith Holbrook buys 4 Wood Street Thomas Henry Kingerlee in 1922 for £1750

1939 Census shows Frederick and Edith 

Holbrook living at 14 South Parade Bath 

Edith Holbrook died in 1968 aged 102.



Goad Insurance plan for Wood Street 
in 1927, red outline is 4 & 5 Wood 
Street

Edith Holbrook sells 4 Wood Street to James Bentley Hunt & Charles Vanstone in 1928 for £2185

1928 15th December sale of 4 

Wood Street by Edith Holbrook, 

wife of Frederick Holbrook of 13 

South Parade, Bath, to James 

Edward Bentley Hunt (son in law)  

and Charles Percival Vanstone, 

Electrical and Radio Engineers in 

partnership for £2185

Fredrick and Edith 

Holbrook lived at 13 

South Parade. Bath 

for over 60 years



James Bentley Hunt pays £600 to  Charles Vanstone for share in 4 Wood Street in 1935

Advert for Bentley Hunt and Vanstone

James Bentley Hunt pays £600 

to  Charles Vanstone for hs

share in 4 Wood Street in 1935

1938 Census shows James Bentley Hunt aged 38 with 

his family living in the Beckford Road in Bath.

1938 Telephone Book shows Bentley Hunt 

at 19 Green Street, Bath.

Wood Street in 1925

Advert for Bentley Hunt



Bentley Hunt and Vanstone at no. 4 Wood Street in 1930

This superb photograph shows Bentley Hunt and Vanstones Oval sign and another  for Marconi Radios above its front.  



James Bentley Hunt sells 4 Wood Street to  Wallace Harden for £2,100 in 1937

Bath Chronicle 24th February 1934.

1939 Census shows Wallace Harden aged 51, as an 

Auctioneer and Estate Agent and his wife, Marion aged 59 

with their daughter, living at 29 Sydney Buildings in Bath.

In 1937 Wallace Harden pays £2,100 to James 

Bentley Hunt for 4 Wood Street.

In 1940 4 Wood Street 

becomes the 

headquarters for the Red 

Cross in Bath



Wallace Harden sells 4 Wood Street to Queens Restaurant Ltd.   for £3,250 in 1944

In 1944 Wallace Harden sells 4 Wood Street, 

Bath  to Queens Restaurant for £3,250 

The Shop Blind with “Queens 

Restaurant” can be seen above no.5 

Wood Street. They also owned the 

neighbouring 4 with kitchens at the 

rear of both of them. 

10th February 1945 Bath Chronicle

From about 1945 to 1956. 

Queen's Restaurant, who 

appear to have had the rear 

showroom constructed in the 

garden area. During this time

the first floor was a ladies

hairdresser, and the top flat by 

Mrs. Leigh Hunt, and her 

young daughter Barbara, well 

known in theatre and 

Television plays. Barbara 

married in the late 1950's a 

Television actor named 
Richard Pascoe.

Barbara Leigh Hunt. She was 

born in Bath in 1935 and has 

starred in a number of TV 

Shows and Films including 

Alfred Hitchcock`s “Frenzy”



The business was founded by Andrew James Dando in Midsomer 

Norton near Bath in February 1915. After serving in France during 

W.W.I he moved to Bath and was in partnership with his brother 

Arthur (another brother, George also had an antique shop in Bath) at 

Princes Buildings on George Street, later opening his own shop at 13 

Old Bond Street (below Milsom Street)

In 1947 A. J. Dando supplied a Hepplewhite secretaire bookcase 

which was to be a wedding gift to HRH Princess Elizabeth & Prince 

Phillip from the City of Bristol, the bookcase was presented 

containing a selection of Bristol Porcelain & Glass. In 1956 the 

business moved around the corner to 4 Wood Street where it was 

continued by his son Gordon who became one of the leading 

provincial ceramics dealers as well as having an extensive stock of 

period furniture. Gordon Dando was regular exhibitor at antique fairs 

held in Bath at the Octogon and also at the Assembly rooms, he also 

exhibited for several years at the International Ceramics Fair in 

London. In 1977 Gordon’s son Andrew joined his father, later starting 

his own business with his wife Janice when Gordon retired in 1993.

Members of the British Antique Dealers Association (BADA) from the 

mid 1950’s until 2021 (both Gordon & Andrew have served as 

regional representative), the business had always been run to high 

standards of integrity and all items are fully guaranteed in both 

authenticity and condition.

The 1st selling exhibition, celebrating the 75th anniversary of the 

British Antique Dealers Association, was held at 4 Wood St in 1993. 

Titled ‘Andrew Dando & other Animals’ it was to become an annual 

event running each spring under the title ‘Animal Dando & Friends’ 

held both in the shop and on the internet available to customers 

worldwide.

Andrew James  Dando Antique Shop at 4 Wood Street from 1956 

Antique Display at 4 Wood Street

Gordon Dando at 4 Wood Street

Andrew and Janice Dando



Queens Restaurant Ltd. sells 4 Wood Street to Andrew James Dando for £5,600 in 1956

Directory Entry in 1973

A picture of Andrew's aunt Audrey 

Dando with a Hepplewhite secretaire 

bookcase, above, which was bought 

by the city of Bristol as a wedding 

present for the Queen

Dando`s first shop in George Street.

Gordon outside his shop in Old Bond St.



When Andrew James Dando was born on 31 December 

1891 in Midsomer Norton, Somerset, his father, Charles, 

was 37 and his mother, Sarah, was 38. He married Edith 

Fanny Allen in April 1917 in Shepton Mallet, Somerset. 

They had three children during their marriage. He died on 

19 September 1961 in Bath, Somerset, at the age of 69, 
Andrew James Dando at 10 Bloomfield Park in 1938.

Andrew James Dando`s  Will in 1961

Dando`s Antique shop in the 1950s 

Andrew James  Dando Antique Shop at 4 Wood Street from 1956 

The Document where Raymond Dando as the Trustee 

for Andrew Dando`s Will passes over ownership of no. 

4 Wood Street to Gordon Dando in 1963.



Andrew Dando`s Showroom  at  4 Wood Street in 2002



Andrew Dando`s Showroom  at  4 Wood Street in 2002



Jenwood

Jenwood Gift Shop interior - 20th November 2002 Bath Chronicle November 2004

Neil mattingly in Andrew Dando`s Shop in 2002

Jenwood Gift Shop in 2003



Knight Frank Estate Agents at 4 Wood Street in Bath.  
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